CERTIFIED QUESTIONS 

1. 	 Does Tawney v. Columbia Natural Resour"ces, L.L.c., 219 W.Va. 266, 633 
S.E.2d 22 (2006), which was decided after the enactment of West Virginia 
Code § 22-6-8, have any effect upon the Court's decision as to whether a 
lessee of a flat-rate lease, converted pursuant to West Virginia Code § 22-6-8, 
may deduct post-production expenses from his lessor's royalty, particularly 
with respect to the language of "1/8 at the wellhead" found in West Virginia 
Code§ 22-6-8(e)? 

2. 	 Does West Virginia Code § 22-6-8 prohibit flat-rate royalties only for wells 
drilled or reworked after the statute's enactment and modify only royalties

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

This civil action was filed by plaintiffs in the Circuit Court of Doddridge County, West 

Virginia on December 7, 2012, Civil Action No. 12-C-37, and then removed by defendants on 

January 11, 2013, to the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, 

Civil Action No.1: 13-cv-0004 FPS. After some discovery took place, defendants filed motions 

for summary judgment upon which the United States District Court, Honorable Frederick P. 

Stamp, Jr., presiding, dismissed the claims against all defendants except EQT Production 

Company and then dismissed the fraud, breach of fiduciary duties, and punitive damage claims 

against EQT Production by Order dated January 22, 2016. (lA577.) The District Court then 

entered its Order dated February 10, 2016, certifying the two questions set forth above (JA1) and 

thereby stayed the civil action. t 



STATEMENT OF THE FACTS l 

Parties: 

Plaintiffs are Patrick D. Leggett and his wife, Katherine F. Leggett, of Charleston, West 

Virginia; George D. McKain, by his attorney in fact, Anita Katheryn McKain Greer, of Houston, 

Texas; and Adele S. McDougal of Ritchie County, West Virginia, referred to hereinafter as the 

plaintiffs or lessors and/or as royalty owners. 

The original defendants included EQT Corporation, parent of all the other defendants, 

except EQT Midstream Partners, L.P. The remaining defendants were sister companies who 

provided various services to the ultimate goal of drilling, producing, transporting and marketing 

by EQT Production ofnatural gas on plaintiffs' leases. 

Plaintiffs are the owners of certain undivided interests in oil and gas as set forth in a 106

year old "flat rate" lease dated October 31, 1906, which was later assigned to EQT Production. 

The case was filed against EQT Production and various sister companies and its parent, EQT 

Corporation. However, the United States District Court, as above stated, dismissed on summary 

judgment all entities other than EQT Production [hereinafter referred to as EQT]. 

THE LEASE 

The 1906 lease (JA359) was a standard form lease which granted to the lessee the 

exclusive right to drill oil and gas wells on the lessors' propJrty, to construct pipeline over the 

land and otherwise occupy the land to drill for and produce the landowners' oil and gas. The 

lease provides the term to be 6 years from the date thereof and as long as oil or gas is produced 

in paying quantities. The lease then provides for royalty: 

Lessee shall pay to the lessor for each and every well drilled upon said 
land which produces Natural Gas in a quantity sufficient to convey to market, a 

I Included in the Statement of the Facts are historical references to both scholarly works and case law relating to the 
common law of West Virginia and the practice with respect to oil and gas leases. 
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money royalty computed at the rate of Three Hundred Dollars ($300.00) per 
annum, payable quarterly in advance, beginning when the well is completed and 
continuing as long as the gas is piped away by the lessee. And if Petroleum Oil is 
found and saved, the lessee shall yield and give to the lessor the full equal 1/8 part 
or share of the same delivered, free of charge, in the pipeline and tanks of the 
company transporting and storing the oil produced upon said premises." 
(Emphasis added.) 

As to natural gas, the lease is one commonly referred to as a "flat-rate" lease. Certain of 

the wells on this lease were converted by the lessee, EQT, to a 1/8 royalty provided for by filing 

affidavits as required by W. Va. Code, § 22-6-8. Other wells on the property were not converted 

and receive only the $300.00 flat-rate annually. (JA3.) 

EQT has been and continues to pay less than the 1/8 provided for by W.Va.Code 22-6-8 

by deducting significant sums from the royalty, as "post-production" expenses and claiming that 

they sell gas at the wellhead to a sister company. 

THE DEDUCTIONS 

The defendant took significant sums from plaintiffs' royalty each quarter as deductions 

for various expenses it claimed it had incurred in preparing the gas and for transportation to 

market. As plaintiffs learned in discovery in the case, the list of things deducted was extensive. 

In addition, however, EQT claimed that it never took any deductions and that it paid the 

plaintiffs a full 118 of the amount it received for the gas. EQT entered into a plan and design to 

sell its gas to its sister marketing company, EQT Energy, L.L.C. "at the wellhead." But, EQT 

Energy, who purchased all of the gas produced by EQT, paid a price which was calculated by 

estimating and deducting the costs of gathering and transporting the gas to the point of sale. 

However, EQT Energy did not transport the gas. It was transported and processed by EQT 

Gathering, another sister company of EQT. (JA185.) EQT paid royalty, not on the volume of 

natural gas which was extracted from plaintiffs' wells but only upon a lesser volume that reached 

3 




the market. ld. p. 52. The charges were assembled by one of EQT Corporation's "groups." 

(JA275, 277, 290) Mr. Piccirilli is charged with the duty to assemble and calculate the charges 

which are then pro-rated proportionality for each of EQT's lissors across the three geographic 

districts of EQT. He then gathers it from a "variety of sources." (JA275) The charges include 

costs for administration including costs which are incurred by the parent and other sister 

companies. ld. 33. Mr. Piccirilli indicated that there "was a "laundry list" of specific costs. 

JA277-278) As an example, EQT Corporation's administration and cell phone expenses for 

employees would be an expense added to plaintiffs' portion of expenses. (JA282) 

Importantly, the defendant's deductions were arrived at, not as actual costs, but as an 

"estimate," and there was no reconciliation at any time to refund the royalty owner the difference 

between the amount billed and the actual amount of the costs. (JA278) 

mSTORY OF FLAT-RATE LEASES 

For reasons to be discussed more fully below, in reviewing the intent of the Legislature 

with respect to the enactment of W Va. Code, § 22-6-8, the common law and practices and rights 

of lessors are relevant to considering the Legislature's intention with respect to the certified 

questions. 

In discussing the development of the fixed or flat-rate gas royalty clause as part of the 

evolution of the gas-royalty clause, Professor Eugene Kuntz, who became one of the leading 

scholars in the area ofoil and gas law in the 1950s, has explained: 

The part of the royalty clause which provides for the royalty on gas has 
undergone significant changes in response to the development of the natural gas 
industry. In the early days of operations under the oil and gas lease, the primary 
objective of exploration and drilling operations was the discovery of oil, and it 
was justifiably regarded as a major misfortune if gas alone were found. 
Although the gas had value, it was difficult to market. 

* * * 
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The circumstances surrounding the use and the value of gas apparently 
had an effect upon the development of the part of the royalty clause which deals 
with gas. . .. If the lessee marketed the gas and thereby held the lease, the lessor 
undoubtedly thought that the lessee should be required to pay for the privilege, 
and accordingly, provision was made for the lessee to make a fixed periodic 
payment to the lessor while the lease was so held. Unmarketed gas from a gas 
well and gas from an oil well were regarded as being virtually valueless and 
subject to use without charge by the lessee for operations on the premises. It was 
apparently the general attitude that if such gas were to be used off of the premises 
or sold, then such gas had a demonstrated value and the lessee should be required 
to make a fixed periodic payment to the lessor while the gas was so used or sold. 
At this stage of the development of the royalty clause, provision was made for 
fixed periodic payments for producing gas from a gas well and for selling or 
using any gas off of the premises. 

As the natural gas industry developed and natural gas pipelines were 
extended over the country creating and expanding the market for gas, the 
value of gas increased. It also became apparent that the ultimate value of gas 
and the value of the right to extract and sell gas could not be foreseen or 
determined at any given time of leasing. Accordingly, instead of merely 
increasing the amount of the fixed periodic payment to be made as the gas 
royalty, the parties to oil and gas leases changed their practices and began to 
provide for a royalty on gas which is measured either by volume or by the 
value of the gas produced. There was a transition period in some areas during 
which provision was made for a fixed periodic rental after discovery of gas and 
before marketing and for a royalty based on production after marketing had 
begun. The result would be similar to the result now sought to be reached by use 
of a shut-in gas clause. 

3 Kuntz, A Treatise on the Law ofOil and Gas, § 40.1 at pp. 311-12 (1990i (emphases added; 

footnotes omitted). See also Donley, The Law of Coal, Oil and Gas in West Virginia and 

Virginia, § 156, at p. 219 (1951); McGinnis v. Cayton, 173 W.Va. 102, 107-09, 312 S.E.2d 765, 

770-72 (1984) (Harshbarger, J., concurring). 

Professor Kuntz has further acknowledged: 

Although the fIxed gas royalty provision is no longer in general use 
and although such provision has not been used generally for many years, the 
presence of such provision in old oil and gas leases continues to present a 
problem. It is not uncommon for a very old oil and gas lease to be held for many 
years by production of oil followed by a recent discovery of gas. When such 

2 Professor Kuntz first published his multi-volume treatise on oil and gas law in the early 1950s. 
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event occurs, the lessor and lessee are frequently surprised to find that the royalty 
clause on gas provides for a small fixed annual rater per well. Rather than take 
advantage of the windfall, many lessees have voluntarily modified their leases 
to provide for a one-eighth royalty. Many other lessees have not been so 
inclined. In the latter instance, the lessors then search the oil and gas lease for 
some other provision under which they may assert a right to a gas royalty based 
on production. Such search may be expected to lead to a provision for a royalty 
on "other minerals." 

Kuntz, id., § 40.2 at pp. 315-16 (emphases added). 

THE ENACTMENT OF WEST VIRGINIA'S FLAT-RATE STATUTE 

In 1982, the Legislature declared flat rate leases to be against the public policy of this 

State. Section 22-6-83 provides, in pertinent part: 

(a) The Legislature hereby finds and declares: 
(1) That a significant portion of the oil and gas underlying this state is 

subject to development pursuant to leases or other continuing contractual 
agreements wherein the owners of such oil and gas are paid upon a royalty or 
rental basis known in the industry as the annual flat well royalty basis, in which 
the royalty is based solely on the existence of a producing well, and thus is not 
inherently related to the volume of the oil and gas produced or marketed; 

(2) That continued exploitation of the natural resources of this state in 
exchange for such wholly inadequate compensation is unfair, oppressive, 
works an unjust hardship on the owners of the oil and gas in place, and 
unreasonably deprives the economy of the state of West Virginia of the just 
benefit of the natural wealth of this state; 

(3) That a great portion, if not all, of such leases or other continuing 
contracts based upon or calling for an annual flat well royalty, have been in 
existence for a great many years and were entered into at a time when the 
techniques by which oil and gas are currently extracted, produced or 
marketed, were not known or contemplated by the parties, nor was it 
contemplated by the parties that oil and gas would be recovered or extracted 
or produced or marketed from the depths and horizons currently being 
developed by the well operators; 

(4) That while being fully cognizant that the"'provisions of section 10, 
article I of the United States Constitution and of section 4, article III of the 
Constitution of West Virginia, proscribe the enactment of any law impairing the 
obligation of a contract, the Legislature further finds that it is a valid exercise 
of the police powers of this state and in the interest of the state of West 
Virginia and in furtherance of the welfare of its citizens, to discourage as far 

3 The Act was initially codified at W Va. Code, § 22-4-1, and later re-codified at § 22-6-8. See McGinnis v. Cayton, 
173 W.Va. at 117 & 118 & n. 27, 312 S.E.2d at 781 & n. 27. 
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as constitutionality possible the production and marketing of oil and gas 
located in this state under the type of leases or other continuing contracts 
described above. 

(b) In the light of the foregoing [mdings, the Legislature hereby declares 
that it is the policy of this state to the extent possible, to prevent the 
extraction, production or marketing of oil or gas under a lease or leases or 
other continuing contract or contracts providing a flat well royalty or any 
similar provisions for compensation to the owner of the oil and gas in place, 
which is not inherently related to the volume of the oil or gas produced or 
marketed, and toward these ends, the Legislature further declares that it is 
the obligation of this state to prohibit the issuance of any permit required by 
it for the development of oil and gas where the right to develop, extract, 
produce or market the same is based upon such leases or other continuing 
contractual agreements. 

* * * 
(e) To avoid the permit prohibition of subsection (d), the applicant may 

file with such application an affidavit which certifies that the affiant is authorized 
by the owner of the working interest in the well to state that it shall tender to the 
owner of the oil or gas in place not less than one ei,ghth of the total amount 
paid to or received by or allowed to the owner of the working interest at the 
wellhead for the oil or gas so extracted, produced or marketed before 
deducting the amount to be paid to or set aside for the owner of the oil or gas 
in place, on all such oil or gas to be extracted, produced or marketed from 
the well. If such affidavit be filed with such application, then such application for 
permit shall be treated as if such lease or leases or other continuing contract or 
contracts comply with the provisions of this section. 

(f) The owner of the oil or gas in place shall have a cause of action to 
enforce the owner's rights established by this section. 

(Emphases added). 

The defendant offered three exhibits related to the legislative history of the flat rate 

statute. The first was House Bill 1254 introduced on January 19, 1982. (JA375) The one page 

bill was described as a bill to amend Chapter 22, Article 4 by adding a new section one-1, which 

required that no permit may be issued for drilling or essentially doing any work on an existing 

well "unless the lessee by which such well is to be drilled shall provide for a royalty payment to 

mineral owner of at least one-eighth of the gross proceeds of any oil or natural gas produced 

pursuant to such lease." (JA376) The note attached to the bill stated: 
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"The purpose of this bill is to require oil and ga~ royalties to provide a minimum 
payment of one-eighth of the gross proceeds of any oil or natural gas produced." 
!d. 

Thereafter, the legislation was amended twice, resulting in a Senate Committee Substitute 

for House Bill 1254 (JA378) and then subsequently passed as an amended 6 page bill, the 

Engrossed Committee Substitute for House Bill 1254. (JA386) These documents say nothing to 

indicate that the Legislature intended that the owner of the working interest would have the right 

to deduct expenses from the one-eighth. They all say essentially the same thing, that the intent is 

the opposite, that the own~r of the working interest pay the owner of the oil and gas in place "no 

less than one-eighth." It is also clear here that the Legislature wanted to secure the right of the 

owner of the gas in place to file suit against the operating interest owner to "enforce his rights 

established by this section." W. Va. Code, § 2-6-8(f). (JA386) 

RELEVANT WEST VIRGINIA CASE LAW DISCUSSING 
"AT-THE-WELLHEAD"-TYPE LANGAUGE AND SCHOLARLY COMMENTARY 

Importantly, in both Wellman4 and Tawney,S the Court did not believe that it was creating 

new law but rather that its holdings flowed from our State's long-standing common law 

concerning the 1/8 royalty interest owed to landowners who retained their oil and natural gas 

rights. See Tawney, at 272, at 28 ("our generally recognized rule that the lessee must bear all 

costs of marketing and transporting the product to the point of sale"). Indeed, the decisions in 

Wellman and Tawney were premised upon this long-standing rule of law and not merely upon 

rules of contract construction. And, as will be addressed more fully below, the Court in both 

Wellman and Tawney certainly was charged with knowledge of the Flat-Rate Statute that had 

been adopted by our Legislature in 1982. And, similarly, our Legislature, in 1982, was charged 

with the knowledge of this long-accepted law. Simply stated, our Legislature is presumed to 

4 Wellman v. Energy Resources, Inc., 210 W.Va. 200, 557 S.E.2d 254 (2001). 
5 Tawney v. Columbia Natural Resources, LLC, 219 W.Va. 266, 633 S.E.2d 22 (2006). 
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know of and have full knowledge of all laws in the area in which it acts. See W Virginia Educ. 

Ass'n v. Preston Cty. Bd. ofEduc., 171 W. Va. 38,41,297 S.E.2d 444,447 (1982). 

Oil and gas lessees paying lessors a royalty interest of 118 of the amount received, 

without deductions, is an age-old industry practice. Professor Maurice H. Merrill, who became a 

leading scholar in the field of oil and gas law in the 1920s,6 acknowledged this premise in his 

renowned treatise at least as early as 1940.7 "It is now settled that, in addition to the implied 

covenants for exploration and for development, there is an implied covenant for the diligent and 

efficient operation of the lease and marketing of the product." Maurice H. Merrill, Covenants 

Implied In Oil and Gas Leases, §72 at 184 (2d Ed. 1940). With the duty to market also comes 

the duty to bear all of the costs necessary to take the gas to market and make it a marketable 

product. 

As set forth by Professor Merrill at §84: 

[I]n most cases the lessor thinks of his return solely in a sense of a fixed portion 
of the money realized from the operations and the lessee so treats it. From this 
factual background has evolved that the principle [the lessee] is under a duty 'to 
make diligent efforts to market the production in order that the lessor may realize 
his royalty interest.' 

Id, §84 at 212. 

Importantly, Professor Merrill acknowledged: 

If it is the lessee's obligation to market the product, it seems necessary to follow 
that his is the task also to prepare it for market, if it is unmerchantable in its 
natural form. No part of the cost of marketing or of preparation for sale is 
chargeable to the lessor. This is supported by the general current of 
authority. 

6 "The subject of covenants implied in oil and gas leases was pre-empted many years ago by Professor Maurice H. 

Merrill when his first work on the subject was published. With the publication of the second edition of the work, 

Merrill became the recognized authority on the subject. His influence on the development of the law in this respect 

is so great that one engaged in research must not only consider cases decided on the subject but must also consider 

opinions expressed by Merrill." Kuntz, Oil and Gas §54.1. 

7 The first edition of Professor Merrill's single-volume treatise was published in 1926. The second edition was 

published in 1940 and last supplemented in 1967. 
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Id., §85 at 214-215 (emphasis added). 

In discussing the evolution of gas-royalty clauses and the "long-established" expectation 

of lessors in this State, this Court has explained:

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