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

the reasonableness of the deductions but whether EQT can take deductions to reach a 

wellhead price. 

Plaintiffs also complain that EQT makes its statutory payments on the 

volume of gas sold not on the volume ofgas extracted. Petitioner's Briefat 3-4. 

Plaintiffs contend that EQT should pay them on the price at the interstate pipeline and on 

the volume of gas at the well. Plaintiffs want to be paid for any gas that is lost during 

gathering or used as fuel for compression. Again, this is not a certified issue. 

The record shows, however, that EQT makes statutory payments on the 

volumes of gas for which it is paid. This is consistent with the statute, which requires 
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payments on the amount "paid to or received by or allowed to" the owner of the working 

interest. § 22-6-8(e). It is also consistent with the decision of Judge Goodwin in 

W. W. McDonald Land Co. v. EQT Prod. Co., 983 F. Supp.2d 790,803 (S.D. W. Va. 

2014). In that case, the lessors made the same argument the plaintiffs are making here, 

that they were entitled to be paid on the downstream price and the upstream volume. 

Judge Goodwin rejected that argument as "perverse," noting that the lessors "want to 

have their cake and eat it too." Id. Judge Goodwin ruled that EQT was only required to 

pay royalties on the gas it was able to sell. Id. 

In its order, the District Court asked the general question: whether Tawney 

controls how payments are to be made under the statute. EQT does not believe that it is 

necessary for the Court to address the specific issue involving how volumes should be 

calculated. If the Court reaches that issue, however, the Court should hold that the 

statutory payments should be based on the volumes sold, not on the volumes produced. 

Finally, plaintiffs complain that EQT Production sells the gas to an affiliate, 

EQT Energy, at the wellhead. Petitioners' Brief at 3, 18. With no evidentiary support, 

plaintiffs state that the sale price paid by EQT Energy is "not a fair market value." Id. at 

18. In fact, the Court has already dismissed plaintiffs' claim that EQT Energy conspired 

with EQT Production to underpay amounts due under the statute. JA at 596. While EQT 

Production sells the gas to EQT Energy at the wellhead, the price is the index price for 

the gas at the interstate pipeline less the costs ofgetting the gas to the interstate pipeline. 

JA at 140-41, 188,223. In making statutory payments, EQT follows this same general 

formula. It takes the price at the interstate pipeline and deducts some of the costs of 
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getting the gas there. JA at 193-94,231-32,275,282,313. This method recognizes that 

gas is more valuable as it moves downstream, and it ensures that the gas owner receives 

full value at the wellhead, the location where statutory payments are to be based. 

3. 	 Ifthe Statute Is Ambiguous, the Ambiguity Should Be 
Resolved in Favor ofthe Working Interest Owner 

Relying on Tawney, plaintiffs argue that if the statute is ambiguous they 

win,just as the lessors did in Tawney. Petitioners' Briefat 18-19,26-27,31. The Court 

in Tawney resolved the ambiguity in favor of the lessors based on the rule that oil and gas 

leases '''will generally be liberally construed in favor of the lessor, and strictly as against 

the lessee.'" 219 W. Va. at 273,633 S.E.2d at 29 (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, Martin v. Consol. 

Coal & Oil Corp., 101 W. Va. 721, 133 S.E. 626 (1926)). 

There is no such rule for statutes. For statutes, different rules apply. 

Where, as here, a statute is in derogation of the common law, it must be strictly 

construed. Syl. Pt. 3, Phillips v. Larry's Drive-In Pharmacy, Inc., 220 W. Va. 484, 647 

S.E.2d 920 (2007); Syl. Pt. 4, State ex rei. Van Nguyen v. Berger, 199 W. Va. 71,483 

S.E.2d 71 (1996). 

Statutes which impose duties or burdens or establish rights or 
provide benefits which were not recognized by the common 
law have frequently been held subject to strict, or restrictive, 
interpretation. Where there is any doubt about their meaning 
or intent they are given the effect which makes the least rather 
than the most change in the common law. 

Phillips, 220 W. Va. at 491,647 S.E.2d at 927 (quoting Norman J. Singer, 3 Sutherland 

Statutory Construction § 61:1 at217 (6th Ed. 2001)). 
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Also, while the Court will generally afford remedial statutes a liberal 

construction, it only does so to effectuate the specific purpose of the statute, not some 

broader aim. See Henthorn v. Collins, 146 W. Va. 108, 111, 118 S.E.2d 358,360 (1961) 

("[T]he duty to construe a remedial statute liberally can not amount to authority to a court 

to extend a statute to a case wholly beyond its effects."); Wiseman v. Crislip, 72 W. Va. 

340, 78 S.E. 107, 111 (1913) (holding that this rule of construction "does not authorize 

the court to add other supposed evils, purposes, and objects"). 

Plaintiffs' main argument is that the statute is not in derogation of the 

common law but in harmony with it. Petitioners' Briefat 18-20,24-26. Plaintiffs'theory 

is that when the flat-rate lease statute was enacted in 1982 oil and gas law in West 

Virginia--and across the United States--was settled. According to plaintiffs, lessees had 

an implied duty to market the gas, and this duty required them to pay all costs of making 

the gas marketable and transporting it to a marketable location. Id. at 18-20. Therefore, 

plaintiffs say, the statute should be interpreted to require that the statutory payments be 

made on the full downstream price without any deductions for the costs of getting the gas 

there because that was the practice when the statute was enacted. Id. 

There is just one problem with this argument: it is completely wrong. In 

1982, gas was generally sold by producers to pipeline companies at the wellhe~d. 

Appalachian Land Co., 468 S.W.3d at 853 n.5; Kilmer, 990 A.2d at 1155; Lowe, 49 

SMU L. Rev. at 224. The pipeline companies bore the costs of gathering the gas and 

transporting it to downstream buyers. Kilmer, 990 A.2d at 1155. The pipeline companies 
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paid the producers a wellhead price. Id.; Clough, 179 P.3d at 35-36. And the producers 

paid royalties based on that wellhead price. Kilmer, 990 A.2d at 1155. 

With deregulation in the 1980s and 1 990s, the role of the pipeline 

companies changed. Clough, 179 P.3d at 35-36. They became interstate carriers, not 

buyers and gatherers of the gas. Id.; Appalachian Land Co., 468 S.W.3d at 853 n.5; 

Kilmer, 990 A.2d at 1155. The producers assumed the duties of gathering the gas and 

transporting it to the pipeline companies, and the additional costs of doing so. Clough, 

179 P.3d at 35; Proctor, 19 Tex. Wesleyan L. Rev. at 148-49. To arrive at a wellhead 

price on which to pay royalties, producers began deducting some or all of the additional 

costs from the downstream price. Kilmer, 990 A.2d at 1149. This is sometimes referred 

to as the net-back method ofpaying royalties. Baker,473 S.W.3d at 592-93 (stating the 

net-back method determines the value of the gas at the well by deducting the downstream 

costs from the downstream sales price); Kilmer, 990 A.2d at 1149 (same). 

Plaintiffs rely on the 1951 treatise The Law oJCoal, Oil and Gas in West 

Virginia and Virginia by Robert T. Donley, to support their claim that deductions are 

improper, but the treatise does not support their claim. The treatise says that it has been 

the practice in the oil industry ''to compensate the landowner by selling the oil by running 

it to a common carrier and paying to him one-eighth of the sale price received." § 104. 

The treatise goes on to state that "[t]his. practice has, in recent years, been extended to 

situations where gas is found." Id. "[B]ut," the author notes, "the great majority of [gas] 

leases provide for the payment of a flat well rental annually for each producing gas well." 

Id. 
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When Mr. Donley wrote his treatise in 1951, producers were generally 

selling their gas to pipeline companies at the wellhead. John W. Broomes, Waste Not, 

Want Not: The Marketable Product Rule Violates Public Policy Against Waste ofNatural 

Gas Resources, 63 U. Kan. L. Rev. 149, 173-74 (2014); Pierce, 49 Washburn L.J. at 368. 

Today gas is usually sold at the interstate pipeline, and the producers incur the additional 

costs of getting it there. As noted, to reach a wellhead price, the producers deduct some 

of their midstream costs and pay their lessors one-eighth of the net price. Mr. Donley 

was not addressing this method of paying royalties but the emergence ofpercentage 

leases. 

In 1982 when the statute was enacted, lessors were generally paid royalties 

based on a wellhead price. When the Legislature referred to proceeds "at the wellhead," 

that is what it meant. The Legislature did not envision--much less adopt--the decisions 

in Wellman or Tawney because those cases would not be decided for decades. 

In those instances when the lessee did not sell the gas at the wellhead, the 

lessee was generally allowed to deduct post-production costs in calculating royalty when 

the statute was enacted. Johnson v. Jernigan, 475 P.2d 396, 398-99 (Okla. 1970) 

(allowing deduction of transportation costs because the duty to market does not require 

the lessee to bear the full cost of delivery to an off-site purchaser); Reed v. Hackworth, 

287 S.W.2d 912,913-14 (Ky. 1956) (allowing deduction of transportation costs to 

determine market value of gas at the well); Lawrence Mills & J.e. Willingham, The Law 

ofOil and Gas § 130, at 189 (1926) ("[T]he lessor is entitled only to his oil or gas or the 

value thereof at the well and not at some distant market. So if the lessee constructs a pipe 
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line or deals with another to do so, he is entitled to charge against the lessor his 

proportion of the reasonable rental value of such line."); but see Gilmore, 388 P.2d at 

606-07 (holding that lessee could not deduct cost of compressing gas for delivery to 

purchaser's pipeline on leased premises because lessee had implied duty to make the gas 

marketable). 

Plaintiffs contend that Tawney and Wellman simply "clarified what the 

common law had always been in West Virginia." Petitioners' Brief at 18. This is not so. 

Wellman announced as a new syllabus point: 

If an oil and gas lease provides for a royalty based on 
proceeds received by the lessee, unless the lease provides 
otherwise, the lessee must bear all costs incurred in exploring 
for, producing, marketing, and transporting the product to the 
point of sale. 

Syl. Pt. 4, 210 W. Va. 200, 557 S.E.2d 254. On the issue of what language "provides 

otherwise," Wellman suggested that a provision requiring royalties to be paid at the 

"mouth ofthe well" might be sufficient. 210 W. Va. at 211,557 S.E.2d at 265. This 

suggestion was in accord with Cotiga Dev. Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co., 147 W. Va. 484, 

493, 128 S.E.2d 626,633 (1962), which recognized that the parties were free to stipulate 

that royalties be computed "on the basis of the wellhead price." 

Tawney ultimately concluded-24 years after the flat-rate statute was 

enacted--that provisions stating that royalties are to be paid on proceeds at the well or 

proceeds at the wellhead are ambiguous and that the implied duty to market requires the 

lessee to bear all costs of transporting and marketing the gas. 219 W. Va. at 272,633 

S.E.2d at 28. The Court repeated Syllabus Point 4 from Wellman. 
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In doing so, the Court in Tawney said it was applying its "own settled law." 

219 W. Va. at 271,633 S.E.2d at 27. In support of that statement, the Court first cited 

Donley, The Law oJeoal, Oil and Gas in West Virginia, § 104, which refers to the 

practice ofpaying royalties on one-eighth of the "price received." As we have seen, 

however, that price was generally a wellhead price, not a downstream price. 

The Court also cited Davis v. Hardman, 148 W. Va. 82,90, 133 S.E.2d 77, 

81 (1963), in which the Court noted that royalties are "not chargeable with any of the 

costs of discovery and production." EQT has not charged its lessors with any of the costs 

of discovery or production, and that is not an issue in this case. 

Finally, the Court cited Wellman, which established the rule that where a 

lease is based upon proceeds the lessee must bear "all costs incurred in exploring for, 

producing, marketing, and transporting the product to the point of sale." Syl. Pt. 4, 210 

W. Va. 200, 557 S.E.2d 254. Because Wellman was decided decades after the flat-rate 

statute was enacted, it could not have informed the drafting of the statute in 1982. 

One final point on plaintiffs' claim that Wellman and Tawney were settled 

law in 1982: If Wellman and Tawney were settled law, why would the Legislature insert 

"at the wellhead" in the statute? The phrase "at the wellhead" has been the foundation 

for the lessee's argument that post-production costs should be deducted from the 

downstream price. Why would the Legislature insert this phrase into the statute if the 

Legislature intended to preclude post-production deductions? Yet, we know that the 

phrase "at the wellhead" was added to the statute during the legislative process. JA at 

376,382,390. Plaintiffs have no explanation for this fact, other than to say that "at the 
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wellhead" is ambiguous. But the question remains, why add this supposedly ambiguous 

phrase if the Legislature's intent was to preclude deductions? The answer is that the 

Legislature did not intend to preclude deductions. It intended to ensure that proceeds 

were calculated at the wellhead, the recognized and established location for doing so. 

The phrase "at the wellhead" specifies the location for computing the price on which 

statutory payments are made. 

D. 	 THE COURT NEED NOT ANSWER THE SECOND 
CERTIFIED QUESTION BUT IF IT DOES THE 
ANSWER IS THAT THE STATUTE DOES NOT 
INVALIDATE FLAT-RATE LEASES 

In the second certified question, the District Court asks whether the statute 

operates prospectively or whether it abrogates flat-rate leases in their entirety. Because 

the plaintiffs have not challenged the validity of their flat-rate lease----and, in fact, have 

stipulated that their lease is valid--this question is not properly before the Court. In any 

event, it is clear that the statute does not abrogate flat-rate leases. It merely prohibits 

permits for new or reworked wells on flat-rate leases unless the owner of the working 

interest agrees to pay the owner of the gas one-eighth of the proceeds at the wellhead. 

1. 	 Plaintiffs Have Not Challenged the Validity ofTheir 
Flat-Rate Lease 

There is no claim in the Amended Complaint that the 1906 Lease is invalid 

or that flat-rate leases in general are invalid. JA at 8. Nor is there any such claim in 

plaintiffs' brief to the District Court. JA at 508. Instead, plaintiffs' claim is that EQT did 

not pay them the full amount due under the Lease and the flat-rate statute. JA at 20 ~ 49. 
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("Defendants failed to pay them the amount of money due and owed them at the time 

due.") 

In fact, plaintiffs are estopped from claiming that their flat-rate lease is 

invalid. Hager v. Exxon Corp., 161 W. Va. 278, 284, 241 S.E.2d 920,924 (1978). Only 

a few years before this suit was filed, plaintiffs ratified the 1906 Lease, stipulated that the 

Lease is valid, and affirmed "all of the terms and provisions ofthe Lease." JA at 447, 

449,451. 

A certified question should not be answered where it will not be 

dispositive of the claim actually pending in the certifying court. W. Va. Code § 51-1A

3; Recht, 230 W. Va. 464, 740 S.E.2d at 63-64; Morningstar v. Black & Decker Mfg. 

Co., 162 W. Va. 857, 861,253 S.E.2d 666,669 (1979). Nor will the court consider 

certified questions not necessary to the decision of the case. Zelenka, 208 W. Va. at 245, 

539 S.E.2d at 752; Syl. Pt. 7, Shell, 181 W. Va. 16,380 S.E.2d 183; Syl. Pt. 6, W. Va. 

Water Servo Co. v. Cunningham, 143 W. Va. 1,98 S.E.2d 891 (1957). In determining 

whether a certified question is necessary or dispositive, the Court looks to the actual 

claims raised in the complaint. See Bass v. Coltelli, 192 W. Va. 516, 521, 453 S.E.2d 

350,355 (1994). 

Stated differently, the Court will not give advisory opinions as to issues 

not properly raised in the pleadings. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Schatken, 230 W. 

Va. 201, 210-11, 737 S.E.2d 229,238-39 (2012); Mainella v. Bd. ofTrustees of 

Policemen's Pension or ReliefFund ofCity ofFairmont, 126 W. Va. 183,27 S.E.2d 486, 

487-88 (1943); see also State ex reI. Kutil v. Blake, 223 W. Va. 711, 719-20, 679 S.E.2d 
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310, 318-19 (2009) (holding it was inappropriate for the lower court to rule on a matter 

not pending before the court). Specifically, the Court will not address claims that are not 

raised in the complaint. See Schatken, 230 W. Va. at 211, 737 S.E.2d at 239. 

The second certified question is not dispositive of any claim in the case. 

The Amended Complaint alleges only that EQT has taken unauthorized deductions from 

its payments, and it seeks damages for the deductions. JA at 17-20. The Amended

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